
The Green Mountain Railway: 
Bar Harbor :S Remarkable Cog Railroad 

by Peter Dow Bachelder 

Cadillac Mountain: A Coastal Landmark 
At 1,532 feet above sea level, the summit of Cadillac Mountain is 
the lofti est spot on Mount Desert Island. Moreover, it holds the 
di stinction of being the second highest point on the immediate 
western shores of the Atlantic Ocean. Only 2,3 10-foo t Mount 
Corcovado, at Rio de Janeiro, Brazil , is taller. 

For as long as mariners have sa iled the Maine coast, Cadill ac's 
broad pro fil e has been a we lcome landmark . Long befo re the first 
li ghted aids to nav igation, ships along the transatl anti c route 
cross ing the Gulf of Maine guided on its pro minent peak, which in 
clear weather is vi sible 35 to 45 miles offshore. For centuries, 
countless coasting vesse ls have fo und its presence helpful , if not 
downright indispensable. 

Mention of Mount Desert Island (MDI) occurs early in recorded 
hi story. Samuel de Champlain 's 1607 map denotes it as " I. des Monts 
deserts" (island of the barren mountains). 1 Massachusetts Governor 
John Winthrop's Journal of 1630 contains the first known sketches 
of the island , made June 8 when he sighted its hi gher peaks sli ghtly 
more than 35 miles to the northwest, while sailing between Cape 
Sable, Nova Scotia, and Salem, Massachusetts.2 During the mid­
eighteenth century, references to MDI began to appear in atlases and 
sailing directions and on marine charts. The 1706 Mount edition of 
The English Pilot, The Fourth Book, part of a much-used British 
sea-atl as published from 1671 to 1803, includes it, as do all 
succeeding vers ions.3 In 1765, the Massachusetts General Court had 
the entire Maine coast surveyed and afterward brought out a map 
depicting an accurate outline of MDI and the neighboring islands.4 

In 1772, engineer and hydrographer Samuel Holl and , offi cial British 
surveyor of the U.S. coast north of the Potomac River, made a seri es 
of charts of the Maine and New England coasts, including ones 
showing MOI.s They subsequently appeared in British Army 
engineer Joseph F. W. Des Barres' monumental Atlantic Neptune, an 
immense collection of painstakingly deta il ed nav igational charts 
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embody ing much of the east coast of North America.6 

Although the name "Mount Desert Island" has deep roots, the 
earli est records identi fy ing Cadill ac Mounta in occur much later. In 
John & James Peters" Survey of the De Gregoire half of the Island, 
1807, it appears as "Bauld ." New York lawyer Charl es Tracy, in the 
diary of hi s family's 1855 visit to MDI, call ed it "Newport" (a lso a 
fo rmer name fo r nearby Champlain Mounta in). By the 1860s, 
"Green" had become widely accepted, showing up on Henry 
Franc is Walling's 1860 Topographic Map of Hancock County, as 
well as in two earl y, popular guidebooks: C lara Barnes M artin's 
Mount Desert on the Coast of Maine, orig inally w ritten in late l 866, 
and Benj amin F. DeCosta's 187 1 Rambles Jn Mount Desert. During 
the creation of Lafayette (later Acadi a) Nationa l Park, of which the 
mounta in is an integral element, "U.S. Board of Geographic 
Names" in 19 18 decided that, in keeping w ith local hi storica l ti es, 
"Cadill ac" was a more appropriate designation and so renamed it. 
Area residents were slow to accept the change. An early 193 1 
readers ' po ll in the weekly Bar Harbor Times revealed that 98 percent 
of the participants sti II preferred "Green. " 7 

Earliest Visitors to Cadillacs Summit 

Nati ve Ameri cans were arguabl y the first people to visit the top of 
Cadillac Mountain. The early nati ves typica lly arri ved at the 
summit via the gentl y sloping no11h and south ridges, ra ther than 
the steeper east and west faces. They were not interested in a 
challenging climb, desiring only to reach their destination w ithout 
damaging the landscape, which they revered. They likewise 
preferred to avoid obstacles, rather than harm them, and would go out of 
their way to do so. 

The anc ient abori ginal tra il a long Cadill ac's north ridge fo ll owed 
much the same route as the subsequent, mid-nineteenth century 
buckboard road, which commenced at the Eagle La ke Road, passed 
just west of the top of Great Pond Hill , then sli ghtl y east of The 
Whitecap, the two most prominent eminences along the spraw ling 
fl ank. Over the fi nal mile, the primitive path straddled the 
granite-capped ridge line as it angles upward roughl y 500 fee t to the 
summit. 
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The U.S. Coast Survey 

In 1807, President Thomas Jefferson created the Survey of the Coast, 
a federal agency mandated to-among other scientific responsibilities­
chart and map the country's coastline. Renamed the U.S. Coast 
Survey in 1836, the unit achieved its most notable accomp lishments 
under the leadership of its second superintendent, Alexander Dallas 
Bache, who assumed control in 1843. Under Bache's direction the 
necessary field work took place that paved the way for mapping the 
coast of Maine. 

One of the preliminary steps in the Coast Survey's charting process 
involved selecting sites for primary triangulation stations, where 
accurate measurements of distance and direction could be 
determined. One of the requisites for each location was that it have a 
direct I ine-of-sight to surrounding stations. Much of the primary 
triangulation in Maine was carried out at the summits of mountains, 
which were almost ideally suited for the work and allowed 
observations across greater distances than were possible elsewhere 
along the east coasts Cadi ll ac (then Green) Mountain at Bar Harbor 
was among more than a half-dozen similar spots selected. 

During the summer of 1853, Coast Survey specialist Thomas 
McDonnell led a crew that carved out a primitive road to the 
summit of Green Mountain , up which a team of horses cou ld haul 
equ ipment and materials. Richard Hamor of Bar Harbor was hired 
to build "in a sheltered place near the top .. . (a) house I 0 x 12 square, 
& 9 feet high of boards battened with 3 x l inch battens on the roof 
and sides, floored with table & 2 bunks inside, to have one window 
with 8 li ghts and a s liding shutter or deadlight outside to secure it." 
Hamor was paid $50 for his effort.9 The rude hut served to she lter 
Coast Survey workers and provided a place for their gear and 
prov1s1ons. 

On August 6, 1853, Charles 0. Boutelle, one of Bache's assistants, 
established a working signal for "station Mount Desert" (as 
contemporary Coast Survey documents refer to it) , set atop a tal I, 
skeletal wooden tripod. Above the crotch of the spruce framework, 
reinforced by 27- and 30-foot braces, rose a 17.5-foot pole, painted 
black with a four-foot white band slightly more than halfway up. 
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At the apex of the slender column, a rotating tin si gnal reflected 
sunlight and directed it toward a given distant point. 10 Coast Survey 
personnel utilized the Green Mountain location on a seasonal basis 
through 1860, when its established function was no longer 
necessary. The site continued to be used as late as 1865, principally 
for secondary triangulation purposes in connection with the creation 
of hydrographic charts of Frenchman Bay. 

The Mountain House 

In 1866, prominent Hulls Cove lumber baron and shipbuilder 
Daniel Webster Brewer built a small hotel atop Green Mountain , on 
property he had acquired from his father, Edward, in 1857. 
Following a portion of the 1853 government trail , Daniel constnicted 
a passable buckboard road to the summit, where he operated what 
travel writer Benjamin F. DeCosta's Rambles in Mount Desert 
guidebook describes as: 

.. . a rough-built structure, thrown together on the umbrella 
principle, with all the fi'am ework showing on the inside, 
being braced up without by light timbers of spruce planted 
in the rock to enable it to withstand the heavy gales. The 
little parlor in the center is flanked by the dining- room, 
and a couple of dormitories, while overhead, in the loft, 
a double tier of berths is arranged, steamboat fashion .. u 

Referred to in early deeds as the "Mountain House," the simple 
lodging was also variously called the "Green Mountain Hotel ," the 
"Green Mountain House," and the "Tip Top House." D.H . Swan 
managed the property during the early 1870s and reported that in the 
summer of 1874, some 3,000 people visited the mountaintop. After 
Swan decided to run the Hamor House in Bar Harbor, the Mountain 
House continued to operate, although not always on a regular basis. 
In 1882, A.M. McQuinn kept the place, registering 1,900 visitors 
that season.12 

The Winds of Change 

Over the years, Daniel Brewer 's buckboard road deteriorated to the 
extent that, by the early 1880s, some stretches had become almost 
impassable. At the same time, summer visitors to Mount Desert 
Island were swelling the local population many times over, and the 
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lure of Green Mountain was annually attracting thousands most of 
them climbers. During the summer of 1882, the Mount Desert 
Herald, Bar Harbor's pioneer newspaper, periodi ca lly mentioned 
Green Mountain 's popularity. On Friday, August 5, one of its local 
interest items pointed out that on the previous day, more than I 00 
people had enjoyed time at the summit. Two weeks later, a similar 
account indicated that 250 had done so on the 11 th .1 3 To those with 
an interest in the island 's burgeoning recreati on industry, it was 
becoming increas ingly apparent that the mountain could be the 
island 's premier touri st attraction, if only there were an easier way 
to reach the top. One of these was a fa r-sighted Bangor man, whose 
dreams included making MDI access ible to the world and Green 
Mounta in a must-see spot once they arrived. An unknown to most 
is land res idents in 1882, within a year the name Francis Clergue 
would not only be fa miliar, but the most ta lked about-and 
cont roversial-in the community. 

Francis Hector Clergue 

Francis Hector Clergue was born August 28, 1856, in Brewer, 
Maine. His fa ther, Joseph Hector Clergue, had emigrated from 
Lori ent, France, around 1851 and settl ed in the Bangor area, 
becoming a successful hairdresser and wigmaker. Hi s mother, 
Frances Clarissa Lombard, came from a fa mil y with deep Maine 
roots; her fath er was David Sawyer Lombard , a renowned master 
shipbui Ider. Francis was the eldest of eight siblings-three boys and 
fi ve girl s-including a sister who died in infa ncy. 

After graduating from Bangor High Schoo l in 1875 , Frank (as he 
was typically ca ll ed during hi s adult yea rs) enro ll ed at Maine State 
Co ll ege (today's Uni versity of Maine) in Orono, but dropped out 
after a year and a half. In 1877, he wrote to Maine Senator Hannibal 
Hamlin , imploring the powerful politician to give him a pos ition as 
private secretary in the latter's Washington offi ce. The letter went 
unanswered. Undaunted, Clergue became a clerk in the law offi ce 
of Frederick M. Laughton in Bangor, where practi ca l experience 
and se lf-education helped him get admitted to the Penobscot County 
bar in 1878 and led to hi s becoming a partner in Laughton's firm . In 
1882, he was named Bangor 's City So licitor. 
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Despite the early accomplishments, Frank Clergue became 
disenchanted with legal work, finding it interesting and challenging, 
but far too mundane. A resourceful person, Clergue was highly 
energetic; one family member described him as "a dynamo." He 
was also a man of great insight and vision and would eventually 
champion a long string of speculative ventures that were his real 

. . 
consummg passion. 

Clergue was able to succeed as he did because he demonstrated 
more than just creativity and foresightedness. He likewise possessed 
undeniable charisma and powers of persuasion , enabling him to 
repeatedly convince others less perceptive than he to invest in one 
grand proposal after another. Before the close of the nineteenth 
century, Clergue would become involved in more than a dozen 
spectacular schemes, albeit nearly all were financial failures. 
Although some might call him a romantic-and a reckless one, at that 
-it is apparent he was as eager to see his plans developed and put 
into practice as to merely visualize them. It was simply that the 
fiscal implications of his actions mattered less to him than their 
actual achievement. 

One of Frank Clergue 's early fascinations was the generation and 
transmission of e lectric power, most notably with methods of 
harness ing it for industrial and commercial use. One application that 
particularly intrigued him was urban transportation - more 
specifically, an electric railroad. Clergue was apparently drawn to 
early experiments in this field by the prolific inventor Thomas A. 
Edison, best known for the development, in 1879, of the first 
commercially practical incandescent lamp. While not the electric 
railroad's creator, Edison made several functional refinements to the 
basic concept between 1880 and I 882, before stopping further work 
for lack of support. It would be Connecticut-born Frank J. Sprague 
who created the prototype that soon made the entire idea functional. 
Sprague, a short-term Edison employee, ultimately developed a 
successful system of electric traction that led to the first citywide, 
electric street rai I way system in the United States, at Richmond, 
Virginia, in the spring of 1888. 

Although hi s role in the project has largely been overlooked, Frank 
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Clergue was the first to advocate the idea of an electric street 
ra ilway in Bangor, as we ll as the need fo r a hydroelectric plant to 
generate suffi cient power fo r its widespread use. He was instrumental 
in persuading his law partner (and 1875 Bangor mayor) Frederi ck 
Laughton, w ith a ci rcle of Laughton's influentia l business assoc iates, 
to pursue the organization, in 1885, of the Bangor Electri c Power & 
Light Company, fo llowed, in 1890, by the estab li shment of the 
Veazie Hydro Station, on the Penobscot Ri ver, just above Bangor.1 4 
Before the inception of any of these pioneering endeavors, however, 
Clergue had fo rmulated and laid the groundwork fo r an even more 
sensationa l undertaking-the creation of an electri c ra il way on Mount 
Desert Island, spearheaded by the constructi on of a cog ra il road up 
the rugged granite slopes of Green Mountain . 

Clergue s Plan Unfolds 

Customaril y, entrepreneurs w ith bold new plans announce them 
with the greatest possible fanfare and gusto. The strategy is to draw 
all poss ible attention to the venture and ga in th e publi c 's immedi ate, 
ongo ing interest and approval. Such was not the case w ith the 
beginnings of Frank Clergue 's MDT rai lroad p roject, the unveiling 
of whi ch was at least a partia l-and not an especially we lcome­
surprise fo r most area residents. When word did come, the earli est 
parti cul ars were scanty, and additional detail s appeared onl y 
sporadi ca ll y, at least un til proposa ls fo r actual work on the cog 
ra il road appeared in the loca l newspaper. The December 7, 1882, 
issue of the Mount Desert Herald carried the fo llowing tidbit in its 
"News of Bar Harbor ... " co lumn : " It is said that a party of capi ta li sts 
have taken the preliminary steps for building a ra il road from Bar 
Harbor to Green Mounta in , and also contemplate the erecti on of a 
large hotel at the summi t. Wonder who they are." 

The paper 's suppos itions were true, as more spec ific news a mo nth 
later confi rmed. In early January 1883, the Herald carri ed word that 
"two gentlemen fro m Bangor ... are surveying Green Mountain fo r a 
proj ected ra ilroad." The piece concluded wi th the editorial 
comment: " ... we sincerely regret that our own people should let 
chances like these slip them and pass into the hands of outsiders." 

At thi s point, the Herald had not yet fully grasped most islanders ' 
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(and non-resident property holders ' ) real sentiments on the matter. 
Their chief concern was not that intrnding "outsiders" would seize 
the opportunity to capitalize on such a bold undertaking; they were 
simply opposed to its very ex istence in the first place . And they 
would ultimately make these fee lings a ltogether ev ident. 

Local reacti on as ide, as additi onal info rmation regarding Frank 
Clergue's ra ilroad project emerged, it soon became quite obv ious the 
plan was well conceived, had rece ived strong fin ancial backing, and 
was a lready we ll on the way to becoming a rea lity. C lergue formed 
the Green Mountain Railway Company (GMR) and had it 
incorporated on N ovember 23, 1882, with capita l tota ling $90,000. 
The major investo rs, mostl y Bangor bus inessmen, included: Payson 
Tucker, president of the (Eastern and) Ma ine Central Railroad; C.F. 
Bragg; F. W. Goodwin ; Stunner Laughton; Charl es Y. Lord, pres ident 
of the Veaz ie Nati onal Bank; and Gen. Mumfo rd , of New York. 
Willi am B. Hayford of Bangor was named company pres ident, with 
Frank C lergue appointed secretary, treasurer, and superintendent. 
The board of directors, a ll from Bangor, were: Charl es Lord ; 
Frederick Laughton, later to become pres ident of the Bangor 
Electri c Light & Power Company and the Bangor Street Rail way; 
Frank W. Cram, superintendent of the European and North 
American Rail way; and Thomas N. Egery, co-owner of the Hinckley 
& Egery Iron Works.i s 

A New Hampshire Inspiration 

To some, the concept of a mountain-c limbing locomoti ve mi ght 
have seemed preposterous, except fo r the fact th at the mechanics of 
it were already a rea li ty and being successfull y empl oyed in New 
Hampshire, thanks to Granite State nati ve and entrepreneur 
Sy lvester Marsh. One of e leven children growing up in Campton, in 
the central porti on of the state, Marsh left home at the age of ] 9 and 
wa lked to Boston, where he worked at vari ous jobs in the packaging 
trades. Going on to Chicago in 1833 , he amassed a fo ttune in the 
meat-packing bus iness and ga ined furth er acc la im after di scovering 
a way to keep gra in-parti cularl y com-from spo iling whil e in 
long-term storage. 

Detennined to slow the hecti c pace of hi s busy life and enj oy more 

44 Green Moun tain Railway 



time with his wife and four children, Marsh reti red to New England 
in 1855 and settl ed in Massachusetts. In August 1857, he spent time 
hiking with a fri end in New Hampshire's White Mountains. On the 
upper slopes of Mount Washington, the pair encountered a sudden, 
savage stonn that almost cost them their lives. Freezing ra in, 
hurri cane-force winds, and earl y darkness nearly kept the two 
climbers fro m reaching the we lcome shelter of the summi t's 1853 
Tip Top House. Badly shaken by the experience, Marsh reso lved to 
find "some easier and safer method of ascension" to the pinnac le of 
New England 's mightiest mountain . His solution would be 
revolutionary-a mounta in-c limbing locomotive! 

Sylvester Marsh knew that smooth, round locomoti ve wheels could 
not grip conventional ra il s well enough to dri ve an engine up 
anything more than a sli ght grade. Adapting a concept ori ginall y 
deve loped in 1812 by Engli shman John Blenkinsop, Marsh 
received, in 186 1, a patent fo r a locomoti ve fitted with a centra l 
cogwheel that turned in a toothed, centra l ra il. A ratchet attached to 
the cog kept it fro m rotating backward during the locomoti ve 's 
ascent, while a gripper beneath the central ra il prevented the cog 
fro m di sengaging. Three years later, he obtained an additional 
patent fo r an air brake, necessary to slow the tra in du ring its 
descent. Fo ll owing furth er refinements to the cog ra il and repeated 
tests with a working model, Marsh fe lt ready to put hi s remarkabl e 
in vention into prac ti ca l use. 

Beginning in April 1866, Sy lvester Marsh supervised crews in 
constructing a 2.8-mile ra il line up Mount Washington's western 
slopes. Consisting of a wooden trestle supporting the centra l and 
outer ra il s, the ra il way averaged a 25 percent grade while climbing 
the 3,625 verti ca l fee t fro m the Marshfi eld base station to the 
6,288-foot summit. The fi rst tra in to reach the top arri ved July 3, 
1869, and the pi o neerin g Mount Washington Cog Rail way (MWR) 
was born. 16 

Determining the Railroad 's Route 

Aware of MWR's immedi ate popular appea l, Frank Clergue was 
determined to establish a similar venture at Bar Harbor and make it 
-with Green Mounta in-the area's premier touri st attracti on. He was 
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full y aware of Bar Harbor's recent meteori c ri se as a trave l 
destination, as we ll as the fact that during the prev ious fi ve years, 
several thousand people had annually trekked to Green Mountain 's 
summit. He reasoned the numbers would increase dramatica ll y once 
hi s railroad was in business . 

On January 22, 1883, Clergue negoti ated a 20-year lease with 
Daniel Brewer, Perry Brewer, and Orient W. Carpenter for 200 acres 
atop Green Mountain, plus a perpetual right-of-way fo r a 96-foo t­
wide strip, from the base to the top, at a location of hi s choos ing. 
As part of the dea l, Clergue also acquired: ( I) a 40-foot-wide ri ght­
of-way fo r horses, carriages, foo t passengers, and rail way - from the 
Eagle Lake Road to the base of the rail road (a long the east shore of 
Eagle Lake); (2) the unrestricted use (for a steamboat landing) of 
any wharves or piers bui It on the shores of Eagle Lake; and (3) the 
ri ght to construct and use a wharf not over 50 feet wide on the shore 
side of the ri ght-of-way. In return , Clergue agreed to pay the trio 
$ I 00 one year from that date, then on every January 22 thereafter, 
fi ve cents fo r each person visiting the summ it during the prev ious 
twelve months. The full pa11iculars are spell ed out in a lease 
recorded June 6, 1883, at the Hancock County Registry of Deeds. 

One of Clergue's first tasks was to determine the exact path the 
pro posed rail road would fo ll ow. In December 1882, he hired two 
Bangor men, Alden F. Hilton and F. W. Goodwin , to ex plore Green 
Mountain 's granite-ribbed slopes and se lect the most advantageo us 
course for lay ing the track. In 1871 , Hilton had engineered 
constructi on of the broad-gauge European & North American 
Rail way, which ran between Bangor and St. John , New Brunswick. 

Goodwin was one of GM R's stockholders. Clergue also tapped 
Hilton to oversee the job of building the Green Mountain Railway, 
and Hilton did draw up a general plan. But before any meaningful 
work on it could begin, Hilton withdrew to manage a larger 
project - construction of the Meganti c Rail way, connecting Montreal 
and Portland . Clergue then placed Frank W. Cram in charge of the 
overall constructi on. He al so named Orrington's Warren Nickerson 
the chief engineer and George Jones, superintendent of lay ing the 
track.17 
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During December 1882 and early January 1883 , H ilton and 
Goodwin explored the ice-and snow-covered sides of Green 
Mounta in, enduring several days of sub-zero conditions in the 
process. The pair ul timately chose a route beginning at the eas t 
shore of Eagle Lake and stretching 6,300 feet ( 1.2 mil es) up the 
mountain's heavily wooded west slope. The course was nearly 
stra ight, incorporating just two minor, right-hand curves, each about 
th ree degrees. Because the surface of Eagle Lake is 274 feet above 
sea leve l and Green Mounta in 's summ it e levation is 1,532 fee t, the 
tota l vertica l ascent amounted to I ,258 feet. The average rise of th e 
ra ilbed would be one foo t for every 4.5 fee t trave led (roughl y 22 
degrees), whil e the steepest grade would ga in nearly one foo t in 
three (about 30 degrees). 

Getting State Approval 

Before Frank C lergue could formall y es tabli sh the G reen Mounta in 
Ra il way, he needed officia l approva l. ln January 1883 , he asked the 
Maine legislature fo r a charter " to build a ra il road fro m the vill age 
of Bar Harbor to some point on Eagle Lake." Interestingly, 
however, no hard ev idence ex ists that lawmakers in Augusta 
approved the request-i.e., Maine publi c laws do not inc lude any 
such statute. Nonethe less, GMR did fu lly comply w ith the 
requirements set fo rth in the state 's 1876 ac t authoriz ing the 
formati on of ra ilroad corpora ti ons: raising suffic ient capital stock; 
naming appropriate company di recto rs; creating va lid, subscribed 
arti c les of associati on, etc. T he notari zed docum ent deta iling the 
articles of assoc iation was signed by GMR officia ls on November 9, 
1882, approved six days later by the Ma ine Board of Ra il road 
Comm issioners, and recorded in the Secretary of State's office on 
November 23 _1s 

Clergue also sought-and rece ived-legisla ti ve approva l to change the 
ra il road 's gauge (the di stance between the two ra il s) , so it would 
match the slightl y narrower tracks on Moun t Washington. The latter 
measured fo ur fee t, seven and one-half inches, one inch less than 
the standard mandated by Congress in 1873. On February 3, 1883, 
lawmakers passed a publi c and spec ial law authoriz ing the Green 
Mounta in Ra il way to adopt any gauge " not less than two feet nor 
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more than six feet." The ruling would allow Clergue to have a 
locomotive built utili zing the same specifications as recent ones at 
Mount Washington-and save time and money in the process. One 
account even claims the locomotive Clergue purchased that spring 
was originally intended to run on the MWR line.19 

Among other conditions, Maine's 1876 ra il road law required 
Clergue to present "a petition fo r approva l of locati on" at a public 
hearing before the state's Board of Rail road Commissioners and 
publish advance notice of the meeting. The announcement appeared 
in the Mount Desert Herald on January 11 , 1883 , and the hearing 
took place February 3 in Bangor. 

The board 's three commiss ioners approved the petition as presented 
and later in the month accompanied Clergue and GMR's directors to 
Bar Harbor fo r a first-hand inspection of the proposed route.20 
With the go-ahead fro m the commiss ioners in hand, Clergue was 
free to make hi s ra il road a rea lity. He wasted no time. Initial work 
commenced Monday, February 19, 1883. 

Railway Construction B egins 

Confident hi s plan would get the necessary approva l, Frank Clergue 
placed the fo llowing notice in the Moun t Desert Herald's "Wanted" 
section fo r January 18, 1883: 

48 

GREEN MOUNTA IN RAILWAY. Proposals solicited. 
For the whole or any part of the fo llowing: Construction of 
circular stone wall of a house on the summit of Green Mountain, 
Mount Desert Island, containing about 8000 f eet of masonry; 
carpenter s and painters work on same. 80 cubic yards of 
culvert masonry, 6000 cubic yards of earth excavation; 1275 
cubic yards of ledge excavation; 700 cubic yards loose rock; 
drilling of 2000 holes, 6 inches deep. I I 12 inches in diamete1'. 
I 00, 000 spruce timber and plank; 2800 railroad ties; clearing 
and grubbing 6000 f eet of track; 6000 f eet (superficial) 3-inch 
plank walk; construction of a whmf on Eagle Lake, about 
I 000 f eet, superficial area. 

For transportation of passengers and freight between Bar 
Harbor and Eagle Lake, in connection with Railway; f or 
transportation of I 00 tons railroad material from Bar Harbor 
to head of Eagle lake. For lease of hotel on summit of Green 
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Mountain, at terminus of Railway. Right of rejection reserved. 

The call for men , material s, and related services was clear and 
detailed, and severa l area bus inesspeople responded . Richard Hamor 
& Sons, propri etors of Bar Harbor 's Grand Central House, ga ined 
the bid to clear the proposed route-removing obstructing rocks, 
roots, and stumps, and smoothing the terrain where practica l. The 
Hamors a lso supervi sed transpo11ation of the building materi als a nd 
the rolling stock from Bar Harbor to the mountain . Off-island crews 
also participated in the overall work. Carpenters and masons from 
Bangor e rected a spac ious stone-and-wood hotel on th e hi ghest 
crest of the mountain . Railroad contractor David D. Smith and c iv il 
engineer Fred H. Coombs, both from Bangor, furnished the wood­
work fo r the road . Once activity commenced, the eng ineers and the 
contractors made their headquarters at the St Sauveur Hotel in Bar 
Harbor. 

Th e Railbed 

By mid-February, enough snow had me lted from the mountain s ide 
to permit the work of c learing and grubbing to comme nce. On 
Monday, February 19, crews bega n hack ing out a nea rly I 00-foot­
wide strip through the fo rest and the dense undergrowth. They 
worked 12-hour shifts and received $ 1.50 per day, living in a 
tempora ry boarding house operated by Samuel E. Head at the foo t 
of the railway. During mid-Apri I, 15 laborers struck for hi gher 
wages, de manding $ 1.75 a day. Frank C lergue di smissed the 
request, and the work continued w ithout further inc ident. 

The chosen route most ly panned stretches where either the ground 
could be cleared to the underl y ing rock, or gra nite ledge was 
already ex posed . Along the way, the surface contour was unifo rm 
enough that very littl e blasting was necessary. This e liminated the 
need to construct trestl ework to ensure a re lati ve ly steady grade. In 
a few spots, granite crib work ca rri ed the track over s li ght 
depress ions or sha llow ravines. ln fact , the well-preserved, but 
overgrown rema ins ofone such stone support are sti II visible less 
than ha lfway up the mountain . 

Due to lingering snow and ice, the task of preparing th e roadbed did 
not begin in earnest until well into April. Where necessary, workers 
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smoothed the bare granite's uneven face to produce a more 
consistent incline. While the rock cutting progressed, as many as 15 
yoke of oxen began hauling fres h-cut lumber from the fo rest near 
the summit, to use as the foundation for the track. 

As soon as the ledge was ready, stone workers drill ed latera lly 
para lle l rows of holes six inches into the granite and inse1ied a 
one- inch iron bolt into each, leaving the exposed ends protruding 
eight to J 2 inches. In seri es of three, the proj ecting rods fo rmed 
permanent supports for the foundation logs snugged against them at 
ri ght angles to the road. Across the logs, crews positioned stringers, 
para ll el with the track, and so lidly fastened them to both the 
underl ying timbers and the ledge. Next came six-inch-square 
cross ti es, each secured by two bo lts, seven-eighths of an inch in 
diameter, as well as four spikes and two lagscrews. At sections 
where a taller foundation was necessary to retain the required grad e, 
crews placed additi onal a lternating tiers of cross-timbers and 
stringers before anchoring the crosst ies. A Portl and newspaper 
reporter who visited the railway in June remarked that " the entire 
structure is as so lid as if it were a pa1i of th e ledge."21 

The track itse lf consisted of two conventi ona l T-rails and a central 
cog rail. On April 2, 90 tons of T-ra ils, ordered from New York in 
earl y February, reached Bar Harbor aboard the 99-foot coasting 
schooner Watchman.22 The cog rails were assembled at th e Atlantic 
Works in East Boston, where those for the Mount Washington road 
had been manufactured more than J 5 years before. 

Rail laying began the first of May and progressed up the mounta in 
as quickly as the fo undation structure was in pl ace. During the 
ensuing seven weeks, workers eventuall y numbering 140 to 175 
pushed the work rapidly. A locomoti ve and two work cars 
facilitated moving the heavy ra il s and other cumbersome 
construction materi a ls uphill to the current work site. A.S . Randall , 
who had been an engineer on the Mount Washington Railway the 
prev ious 11 years , was hired to run the locomoti ve and teach others 
to operate it in time fo r GMR's inaugural run. 

By May I 0, crews had laid 1,200 fee t of track. Three weeks later, 
work had progressed halfway up the mounta in , prompting 
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supervisors to predict they wo uld have a tra in at the top by June 23 , 
the day GMR offi cials had envisioned as the most sui table for a 
grand opening. The prediction proved accurate; construction 
reached the one-mile mark by mid-month, and on June 22, workers 
hammered the fi nal ra il into place .2J 

The Rolling Stock 

As work up Green Mounta inOs western slope progressed, Frank 
Clergue simultaneously moved the multi-faceted ra il road project 
ahead on several other fro nts. He purchased a 10-ton locomoti ve 
fro m the Manchester (N H) Locomoti ve Works, the same firm that 
had turned out earlier ones fo r the Mount Washington Rail way. He 
also ordered a passenger car and two wo rk cars fro m the Hinckl ey 
& Egery Iron Works in Bangor. 

Getting the locomoti ve fro m Manchester to Eagle Lake proved a 
rea l challenge. On April 12, it arrived in Portl and and was offloaded 
fo r transfer to the Maine Centra l Rail road steamship City of 
Richmond. But the burly engine was too large fo r Richmond~· 

gangway, so the schooner Stella Lee was hired to carry it, reaching 
Hamor's Wharf in Bar Harbor on Wednesday, April 18. At the dock, 
a mov ing crew hi tched a team of 14 horses to the we ighty cargo and 
skidded it up West Street, then south along Bar (now Bridge) Street. 
Before turning onto Cottage Street, the movers dec ided to substitute 
whee ls fo r runners, to reduce res istance, and added two yo ke of 
oxen fo r greater pulling·power. 

Averag ing slightly less than one mile a day, the industri ous gang of 
men and animals ca refull y maneuvered the we ighty locomoti ve to 
the north shore of Eagle Lake, arriving on Saturday, April 2 1. The 
2.5-mile journey in vo lved cresting a nearl y 350-foot ri se in elevation, 
through the gap between Great Pond Hill , the northernmost extent 
of Green Mountain , and the south s ide of Great Hill. A large scow 
purchased by Hamor & Sons made the trip, as we ll , to carry 
wo rkers ' too ls and equipment and fe rry other freight and building 
materi als to the foo t of the ra ilway. 

The fin al leg of the trip, from the north end of Eagle Lake to the 
ra il way terminal at the base of the mountain , had to be delayed until 
enough lake ice could be cut and removed to permit the barge and 
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Green Mountain Railway locomotive No. /.also called Mount Desert made the 1.2 mile journey 
betvveen Eagle Lake and Green Mountains s central summit in slightly less than 30 minutes - an 

average speed of betil'een h·vo and three miles per hour. 



enough lake ice could be cut and removed to pe1111it the barge and 
its unusual cargo to navigate unhindered. On May 3, the Mount 
Desert Herald reported that both the locomotive and a construction 
car had been landed at the base stat ion, placed on temporary rails, 
and rolled a few hundred fee t to a spot opposite the new depot, 
where workers were putting them in running order. By May 7, both 
units had been placed on the first section of cog rail. 

Like its earl y Mount Washington counterparts, the Green Mountain 
locomotive, dubbed Mount Desert, burned wood and cou ld generate 
approximately 150 pounds (per square inch) of steam. From its 
horizontal boil er, the pressuri zed vapor was channeled into fo ur 
independent, doub le steam cylinders, each pair connected to a 
separate drive ax le. Here the process of converting steam into 
mechanical energy (a nd linear moti on into rotary motion) occun-ed, 
caus ing the drive ax les to turn. As they did , they set in motion a 
pinion gea r and an interlocking ax le shaft with its associated spur, 
ratchet, and cog gea rs. One tooth after another, the slowly revolving 
cog gea r meshed with the rack, set equidi stant between the 
underlying T-rai ls, and moved the locomotive forward . (The 
locomotive's traditional whee ls simply turned on their ax les, instead 
of being driven.) During the ascent, a hinged, pivoting device 
known as a "paw l" dropped into each success ive notch of the 
revo lving ratchet, preventing any backward motion.2.i 

The idea of equipping Mount Desert with two separate cog wheels 
was a safety precaution . Should a ma lfunction occur in any part of 
the mechanics of one, the li kelihood of a di saster would be averted 
by hav ing the second system continue to operate independently. 

Hinckl ey & Egery workers constructed the passenger car and two 
work cars in sections, and these were assembled in a workshop 
within the depot at the foot of the mountain. Un like the closed 
coaches at Mount Washington, the Green Mountain passenger car 
had open sides, providing riders easier access and greater vi sibility. 
It held eight wooden benches, each spanning the width of the 
carriage. One bench could acco mmodate six people, giving the car a 
total carrying capacity of 48. The seats, with slatted backs, were 
positioned at an angle similar to the average grade of the track, so 
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downhill , affording riders broadly sweeping views of the 
surrounding landscape. Roll-up canvas curtains along the sides and 
ends of the coach could be dropped to shield trave lers from 
unexpected ra in, co ld, or strong winds. The passenger car was fitted 
wi th brakes independent of the locomoti ve. During the ascent and 
descent, it remained on the uphill side of the engine and was not 
coupled to it. If anything unfo reseen should happen to the 
locomotive, the car's brake could quickly be screwed down to safe ly 
stop and hold the carri age at any point along the route. 

The 1.2 miles over which the little train would operate was just 
short enough that the locomoti ve could run the entire di stance 
without stopping for water, which was not the case at Mount 
Washington. There, a holding tank stood alongside the track , 
sli ghtl y more than a mile from the base stati on, and pass ing 
locomoti ves routinely stopped to refill their boilers.2s 

WAUWIN ET 

Because Bar Harbor is situated beneath the northeast face of Green 
Mountain , prov iding railroad patrons a way to connect with a train 
running up the remote west side req uired a bit of creati vity-a trait 
Frank Clergue possessed in abundance. In fac t, he had already 
dec ided how thi s would happen. Passengers would take a 20-minute 
(2 .5-mile) carri age ride from Bar Harbor village to the north end of 
Eagle Lake, then a 20-minute ( 1.5-mile) boat crui se down the lake, 
to a landing near the train depot. The stage and boat schedules 
would be coordinated to permit riders convenient access to any of 
fo ur daily rail departures to the summit. fo early April , Clergue 
purchased the excursion steamer Wauwinet , then docked at 
Newburyport, Massachusetts. Meanwhile, at the base of the rai !way, 
workers had begun clearing an area I 00 by 300 feet adj oining the 
lakefront, where they wo uld construct a passenger depot, car and 
engine houses, and a smal I shed for storing ice. At the shore, others 
had begun erecting a long wharf where Wauwinet would tie up . 

Prior to its arrival in Bar Harbor, Wauwinet served in va ri ous 
capac iti es in Massachusetts, including as a tug in Boston Harbor. 
Built c.1876 in New Bedfo rd , the vessel was taken to Newburyport 
in 1880, where it underwent a thorough rebuilding, including the 
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installation of a new engine and boiler. ln July 1881 , the flat-bottomed 
stern-whee ler was so ld to the loca l Pentucket Nav igation Company. 
During 1882, Wauwinet made daily trips along the Merrimac Ri ver, 
from Lawrence to Haverhill , Newburyport, and the ocean.26 

Wauwinet steamed up to Hamor's Wharf the afternoon of April 17, 
1883, one day before the GMR locomotive arrived. It lay there until 
early May, when Elihu Hamor tackled the task of moving the 11.5-ton 
vesse l over the same fo rested route he had cajoled the hefty, iron­
and-stee l locomotive. As it turned out , Wauwinet s journey would be 
even more laborious. 

The start of the trip, over relati ve ly flat ground, went reasonably 
we ll. By May 9, Hamor's team had haul ed the steamer a mile from 
the sta11ing point, and the Mount Desert Herald declared "the 
movers are making good progress ." But the headway slowed as the 
vesse l reached the di ffi cult uphill portion. During the next week, 
fo rward movement averaged onl y a few hundred feet a day. On 
May 24, Wauwinet, a bit wo rse for the wear, arrived at the north 
shore of Eagle Lake. Workers gave the craft a thorough overhaul 
before launching it into the chilly lake waters. During the next few 
weeks, the vesse l made numerous trips carrying supplies to the base 
of the rail way.27 

In June, John D. Hopkins, Co ll ector of Customs fo r the Frenchman 
Bay District, contacted the U.S. Treasury Department in 
Washington, info rming the agency that Frank Clergue had brought 
Wauwinet to Eagle Lake. Noting that the lake was "entirely 
di sconnected with the ocean or any nav igable waters tributary to the 
ocean," Hopkins wondered whether the steamer should be 
"reg istered, enroll ed, or li censed." Federal offici als replied that 
since Wauwinet was not employed on what were considered 
"navi gable waters of the United States," it would not need to be 
provided with marine documents. Hopkins was furth er informed 
that as long as the vesse l remained undocumented, it legally had no 
home port, although if it should "get its papers," the home port 
would be the one nearest the companyOs established place of 
business (Bar Harbor), or where the steamer's agent had hi s 
business res idence (Bangor). Wauwinet remained undocumented.28 
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The Green Mountain House 

Atop Green Mountain , Frank Clergue planned to erect a substantial 
hotel and dining room for the enjoyment of hi s customers, 
anticipating that many wou ld choose to eat and remain overnight, 
whi le savoring the breathtaking views and awe-inspiring sunrises 
and sunsets during their stays. 

On March 1, 1883 , GMR directors voted to have work commence 
at once on the new summit inn , to be called the Green Mounta in 
House. Dwmg the month, teams of horses haul ed building material s 
-lumber, lime, cement, sand , brick, nail s, etc.-up the mountain via 
the old north ridge carriage road. The first construction began 
March 29. Workers under the supervi sion of N.J. Bunker of Brewer 
stayed at the top, boarding in Daniel Brewer's 1866 Mountain 
House. The simple lodging stood less than 50 feet from the 
building site and had been renovated to accommodate them. 
Progress was rapid, and by the middle of May the fashionable 
wood-frame structure wa complete, except for interior finish work . 
By then, Frank Clergue had announced that Horace W. Chase, who 
ran the American House in Bangor, had leased the Green Mountain 
property and would supervi se its operation. 

The new hotel stood near the apex of Green Mountain 's central 
summi.t, the highest of three broad peaks rough ly 1,000 fee t apart. 
From this spot the surrounding view is the most extensive and takes 
in the southerly reaches of Mount Desert Island , the Cranberry Isles, 
Mount Desert Rock , East Penobscot Bay, and a vast sweep of open 
ocean. The main house was ymmetrica l, situated on an east-west 
axis. Three stories hi gh, it rested on a 41 by 50-foot granite block 
foundation . The east end of the first floor contained two large 
parlors-one for men; the other for women. A spacious dining room, 
30 by 41 feet and able to seat 125, fi ll ed the west end . An eight-foot 
veranda, furni shed with chairs and settees, surrounded the hip-roofed 
structure. Four entrances, two on the north side and two on the 
south , afforded guest direct, convenient access to the dining room 
and both parlors. A 26 by 30-foot ell , two and one-half stories high , 
projected from the west end of the main building. The lower level 
contained a kitchen, serving room, and pantry. 
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The hotel 's principal staircase led upward from the dining area to 
the second story, des igned with 16 sleeping rooms--10 in the main 
house and six in the ell. The third story contained 10 more. A 
separate stairway from the third floor continued up to a sliding 
scuttle, opening onto a truncated roof and a rai sed, railed platfo rm . 
In the center of the platfo rm stood a glass-sided observatory, 10 fee t 
square, topped by a pyramidal spire, 22 feet high at the tip. From it, 
a fl agstaff extended the hotel's overall height to 70 feet above the 
mountaintop. 

The original des ign plans call ed fo r additional observation pav ilions 
to be erected on the neighboring eastern and western summits and 
connected to the hotel by tramways, but with the exception of an 
observatory built on the eastern peak the fo llowing summer, the 
proposed additional features were never constructed. 

Open For Business 

By mid-June, Frank Clergue had definitely decided to ce lebrate the 
Green Mountain Railway 's grand opening on Saturday, June 23 , and 
had invited severa l distinguished guests to pa11ake in the first 
offi cial trip to the summit. Places aboard the freshly painted 
passenger car were reserved fo r the three Maine ra ilroad 
commiss ioners, who would make a final inspecti on of the entire 
road; GMR officers and directors; Bangor area dignitari es, including 
fo rmer Vice Pres ident Hannibal Hamlin, then li ving in Hampden; 
plus a broad contingent of journali sts-editors and reporters from 
major newspapers across New England and beyond . On Saturday 
morning, a convoy of buckboards transported the enthusiastic party 
from Bar Harbor to Eagle Lake, where the steamer Wauwinet was 
waiting to carry them to the base stati on. Shortly after nine a. m. , 55 
invited guests and ra il way personnel crowded onto the tiny train fo r 
the anticipated ascent. Eastern Argus city editor E.S. Osgood 
described the trip to the top as one made " in perfect smoothness" 
and "a ride greatly enjoyed by all. "29 

Regular passage on the Green Mountain Railway began the 
fo ll owing Saturday, June 30. Patrons had their choice of fo ur trips a 
day, with stages leav ing Bar Harbor at 8:00 & I 0:00 a.m . and 2:00 
& 4:30 p.m. One-way passage between Bar Harbor and the summit 
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The Green Mountain Railway track began at the east shore of Eagle Lake 
and stretched 6,300 f eet up Green Mountain s west slope. Th e course was nearly straight 

and gained l ,258feet in elevation beti"leen the lakeshore and the summit. 
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cost $1.75; round trips were $2.50. Intermediate fa res were also 
ava il able for those wanting to experience only certain parts of the 
route. In July, GMR placed three, 16-passenger "barges" (large, 
open carri ages fitted with latera l seating on both sides) on the Bar 
Harbor-Eagle Lake run and hired Abner Getchell of Linneus to man­
age the line. Before leavi ng town, the spacious rigs , custom manu­
factured in Cambridge, Massachusetts, made the rounds of the local 
hotels, picking up passengers at the West End , Rockaway, Newpo1i, 
Marlborough, Rodick, Grand Centra l, St. Sauveur, Lynam 's, and 
Belmont. 

The excursion timetable was carefu lly coordinated to provide 
unhurri ed, yet efficient transport of passengers. Wauwinet s 
departures from the head of Eagle Lake occurred 45 minutes after 
barges left Bar Harbor, with trains ascending the mountain 20 
minutes fo llowing the steamer's sailing. The locomoti ve required 
sli ghtly less than 30 minutes to reach the top, which meant those 
mak ing the "trip from downtown Bar Harbor arrived at the summit in 
about 90 minutes .Jo 

GMR business the first season was steady and espec ia lly busy on 
Sundays, when a hea lthy mi x of curious Mainers joined the fa ithful 
parade of ummer visitors. Many who rode the trains stayed 
overnight at the top. A published list in the August 9, 1883 , edition 
of the Mount Desert Herald discloses the names of 177 individuals 
who had spent at least one night at the summit the previous week. It 
includes parti es from 15 states and one Canad ian province. 

Final figures fo r 1883 show that GMR trains carried 2,697 
passengers - a respectable figure, although not necessar il y one that 
met the full expectations of company management and the financial 
backers.Ji Nevertheless, fo ll owing a GMR directors ' meeting in late 
October, Frank Clergue painted a bright picture of the co rporati on's 
state of affa irs, declaring a six percent dividend on the tock of 
record as of November I . He also di sc losed that the firm had shown 
a net income of $3 , 135.25 and announced he would add a second 
train to the line at the start of the 1884 season. More than that, 
Clergue was ready to revea l hi s next ambitious undertaking, one 
closely associated with the Green Mountain Railway. 
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The Mount Desert Railway 

At the same time Frank Clergue released news of the Green 
Mountain Rail way 's profitable first season, he di vul ged the essence 
of another plan-to build a narrow-gauge ra ilroad from the GMR 
terminal at the foo t of Green Mountain to Bar Harbor vill age. The 
new enterpri se would be ca ll ed the Mount Desert Railway (MOR) and 
do business under basica lly the same ownership and management as 
the Green Mountain Rail way. In fac t, by the time word of the 
scheme appeared in the Bangor and Bar Harbor papers (October 3 1 
and November I, respectively), Clergue had already di spatched 
Bangor engineer Fred Danforth to survey the proposed route. He 
had also arranged fo r a preliminary hearing before the Board of 
Rail road Commiss ioners. It would take place Friday evening, 
November 2, 1883 , at the Penobscot Exchange Hotel in Bangor. 

Although the eleventh-hour public noti ce gave the ra il road's 
adversari es extremely short noti ce, they worked swift ly to orga ni ze 
their oppos ition and hired Ell sworth attorneys Andrew Peters 
Wiswe ll and Hannibal E. Hamlin-the latter, the son of the fo rmer 
Vice President-to represent them. The day before the hearing, the 
Mount Desert Herald prov ided a measure of editoria l support, ca l I ing 
the plan "a project which needs very careful consideration."32 

At the preliminary hearing, Frank Clergue presented hi s petition, 
whereupon Wiswell and Hamlin proceeded to make a vigorous case 
aga inst it. During the latter's remarks, the ra il road commi ss ioners 
reminded the two counse lors thi s was onl y an introductory fo rum , 
and while they could verbally state their obj ections, it was neither 
the time nor the place to present the lengthy, wri tten remonstrance 
they were prepared to introduce. They wo uld have that chance at a 
fo rmal hearing, slated fo r Bar Harbor on November 30. 

On the eve of the Bar Harbor gathering, the Herald took a stro ng 
editori al stand aga inst what it ca lled "That Proposed Rail road," 
insisting that the island 's res ident and non-resident property holders 
-and the summer visitors, as well-were a ll unanimously opposing it. 
The paper concluded its remarks by strongly urging the 
commi ss ioners to reject the plan. 

The fo rmal hearing was held in Bar Harbor village 's di stri ct 
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schoolhouse, where Frank Clergue addressed an overflow crowd 
almost uni versa lly against the proposed Mount Desert Rail way. In 
hi s extended remarks, Clergue indicated that hi s company had 
ori ginally intended to run a track from Eagle Lake to the steamboat 
wharf, along a route paralleling a lengthy stretch of intown Bar 
Harbor shorefront. But he had since learned of the strong objections 
to that idea and had consequently amended the fo rma l petition to 
have it end the line at "some spot on Eden Street, near James Eddy's 
store." This would have placed the terminus near today's junction of 
West and Eden streets. Although the audience li stened in polite 
sil ence, Clergue's remarks did nothing to change their 
di ssati sfaction with the scheme and , if anything, so lidified their 
reso lve to kill its prospects as quickl y and as fo rcefull y as possible. 

As soon as Clergue had fini shed speaking, he left the meeting, and a 
trio of area res idents rose in turn to express contrary points of view. 
Fountain Rodick, one of the family operating the cavernous, six­
story Rodick· House on Main Street, was the first to speak. He began 
by say ing that the Green Mountain Railway had been "fo rced upon 
the peo ple of the island" before they had the chance to voice their 
opinions of it and cautioned that the Mount Dese rt Railway would 
have appeared in the same fas hion if it weren't fo r the fac t that a 
few ale1i individuals had seen the public noti ce shortl y before the 
initial hearing. He went on to remind everyo ne that Clergue's MDR 
petition also included other prov isions, including the ri ght to operate 
steamships on the nav igable waters of the State of Maine and erect 
hotels and restaurants in connecti on with them. He maintained that 
approva l of the proposed project would open the door to creating a 
monopoly of the area's places of interest fo r the benefit of single 
individuals or corporations. Rodick concluded by say ing that visitors 
came to the island "fo r relief from the hurry and bustle of the busy 
world," and the buckboard and carriage were swift enough modes of 
transportation fo r them. 

After the di scuss ion concluded, the railroad commissioners scheduled a 
fo ll ow-up meeting fo r Wednesday, January 16, 1884, when they 
intended to dec ide the ra il road's fate. During the intervening weeks, 
the Herald continued to publish opinions and viewpoints aga inst the 
venture. A few appeared as editori als, but most were expressed in 
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letters from unnamed readers identifi ed onl y as: "A Summer 
Res ident of Bar Harbor," "A Pro perty Owner and Summer Res ident 
of Mount Desert," " Resident,'' and similar pseudonyms. Among the 
remarks, the anonymous writers ca ll ed the plan "objectionab le," an 
"outrage," and "a serious drawback" to the islanders' comfo rt and 
the value of their pro perty. One warned that "a screaming, smoking 
locomotive, cross ing the streets and neighborhood drives, frightening 
horses with their whistles and burning up the wood-one of the great 
charms of Mount Dese1t-from their sparks" would be a serious i1~ustice 

"to the great majority of the persons who seek their summer rest and 
recreation" on the island . 

Railroad commi ss ioners D.N. Mortland (chairman), John F. 
Anderson , and A. W. Wildes conve ned the emotion-charged January 
gathering shortl y before five p.m. in the music room at the St. 
Sauveur Hotel. Frank Clergue took the fi oor first, then yielded to 
MOR superintendent Fred Danfo rth and company director Frank W. 
Cram. Attorneys Hamlin and Wi swe ll led the charge fo r the 
remonstrants, cross-examini ng each of the petitioners before ca lling 
on Fountain Rodi ck to aga in speak fo r the townspeople and the 
summer visitors. 

At 11 :00 p.m., the spirited sess ion was stil l in progress, prompting 
the commi ss ioners to adj ourn fo r the night and re ume the 
fo ll owing morning, when each side wo uld be given one hour fo r 
c los ing arguments. Shortl y before noontime on the 17th , Chainnan 
Mortl and announced that the matter required additional 
consideration and the commi ss ion would not render a dec ision that 
day. In fac t, more th an two weeks passed befo re the offi cial wo rd 
was handed down. 

The railroad commiss ioners' ruling proved a bittersweet victory fo r 
both sides. Frank Clergue wou ld be all owed to build hi s railroad, 
but only between the base of Green Mountain and the outskirts of 
Bar Harbor. Those in Bar Harbor vill age would not have to put up 
with the noise or di strac ti on of a shorefront ra il road, but neither they 
nor the other objectors could prevent Clergue and hi s assoc iates 
from go ing ahead with the new line.33 

As it turned out, it wou ld be the anti-railroad coa lition wh ich 
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ultimately won the day. Rea lizing he would be chal lenged every 
step of the way and suffe r additiona l ill will in the process, Frank 
Clergue postponed building the Mount Desert Railway that year. 
And although he kept the project lega lly alive until 1892, it never 
materialized. 

1884: Improvements and Setbacks 

Preparations for the Green Mountai n Rai lway 's 1884 season got 
underway we ll before regul ar summer service was scheduled to 
begin. Frank Clergue arri ved in Bar Harbor in earl y May, to ensure 
that last-minute detail s would be dea lt with in plenty of time. The 
previous winter he had pursued the matter of adding a second tra in 
to the line and purchased (from the firms which bui lt the prev ious 
ones) another locomotive and an add itional passenger car-both 
identi ca l to their predecessors . 

Clergue also authori zed and initiated improvements and 
enhancements to ex isting facilities. At Eagle Lake, workers enl arged 
the steamboat wharf, whil e others repainted and refitted Wauwinet. 
On Green Mounta in 's eastern summit, carpenters began putti ng up a 
75-foot, octagonal observatory, where visitors could enj oy bird's­
eye views of Bar Harbor vill age, the Porcupine Islands, Frenchman 
Bay, and the northeastern exten t of Mount Dese rt Island . During 
ea rl y June, the railroad commis ioners came to town, inspected the 
track and all ro lli ng stock, and fo und lhe line in "a perfectly sa fe 
condition."34 

The new season ki cked off with relat ively little fa nfa re. Beginning 
June 23 , management adverti ed on-demand tra ins fo r parti es of I 0 
or more, then on Monday, July 7, resumed fo ur scheduled dail y trips, 
as had been offered the prev ious season. Ea rl y reports suggested 
that business was good, and company expectation ran high it would 
continue that way. Then, in early August, an unfo reseen di saster 
occurred atop Green Mountain. 

Fire Destroys The Green Mountain House 

Shortl y after sunset, aturday evening, August 2, 1884, severa l Bar 
Harbor townspeo ple noticed a bright orange glow behind the eastern 
peak of Green Mountain , prompting some to speculate that a fo rest 
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fire had broken out in the woods on the back side of the summit. 
Others thought perhaps overnight partygoers had kindled a huge 
bonfire somewhere near the top. A few even spec ulated that the 
year-old Green Mountain House was ablaze. Shortl y after 8:30 p.m ., 
a phone call to the Mount Desert Herald offi ces settled the issue. A 
ca ller from Otter Creek, where the summit buildings were plainly 
visible, confirmed that the big hotel was not onl y afire, but already 
mostly consumed. Furthermore, the nearby Mountain House had 
ignited and was also full y in vo lved. 

The fire had broken out on the roof of the main house, apparently 
started by sparks fl ying from the kitchen chimney. An eight-year-old 
girl , stay ing with her mother and sister in the hotel, happened to 
look out a window and noti ced what she described as a "sheet of 
fl ame." The mother quickly whisked the child outside to a place of 
safety, then returned to the smoky interi or to retri eve their 
possess ions. But the fl ames were spreading so rapidly that she could 
neither find nor save but li tt le. With no firefi ghting equipment or 
water at their disposa l, the token hotel staff were helpless to stop the 
rag ing in fe rno, and both summi t structures quick ly burned to their 
fo undati ons, leav ing only the shafts of two brick chimneys ri sing 
stark ly fro m a mass of gray ash. 

A man li ving on the west side of Eagle Lake also spotted the fl ames 
that evening. He rowed across to the railway tenninus and awakened 
one of the engineers, who ran a tra in to the summit and brought 
down the few stranded guests and employees. 

The Green Mountai n House had been leased to Horace W. Chase of 
Bangor, who estimated hi s loss at $4,000. He had insured the 
business for $ 1,500. GMR had spent about $8,000 to have the hotel 
built and carri ed a $5 ,500 poli cy aga inst its loss. 

A Temporary Structure Erected 

Undeterred by the ca lamity, GMR took immedi ate measures to put 
up a temporary replacement fo r the fo rmer Green Mounta in House. 
Within 48 hours, management had gotten plans drawn up fo r a new 
structure; contracted with Bar Harbor bui Ider John E. Clark to erect 
it; hired constructi on workers; ordered the necessary building 
materials, including I 0,000 feet of lumber, in Bar Harbor and 
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Ellsworth; and had them transported by rail , ferry, and horses to 
Eagle Lake, where they awaited transport to the mountaintop the 
next morning. 

Work began August 5 on the stopgap building, which company 
officia ls had decided should stand on the eastern summit, adjoining 
the recently constructed observatory. Once the two-story fram ework 
was up, carpenters modified the observato ry stairway, to allow 
access between it and the guest house's second fl oor. The fini shed 
structure measured 35 by 45 feet. The lower level included a 21 by 
34-foot dining room , a 12 by l 7-foot parlor, and a 20 by 30-foot 

Th e Green Mounlain House was bui/1 in 1883. Th e.following 
s u11·1me1~ sparksfi-om !he ki1chen chirnney (righl) ig 11i1ed a section o/ lhe ma in 

roof' an I the en/ire "slruc/ure" burned lo the ground. 
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office; the upper fl oor was div ided into eight bedrooms. By August 
15, the swift ly completed structure had opened fo r business, and 
innkeeper Chase was serving what the Mount Desert Herald termed 
"most appetizing" meals in a dining area swe lled with exuberant 
and apprec iative guests.3s 

GMR's 1884 season concluded on Saturday, September 2 1. The 
fo ll owing day, a single tra in made a spec ial run for the enj oyment of 
company offic ials and their guests. Management had reason to be 
pleased-and optimi sti c. Ridership was up significantly fro m the 
prev ious year; more than 5,000 people had paid to take the mounta in 
excursion. Eager to see a full return to normal operations, GMR 
directors met a week later and voted to replace the fo rmer Green 
Mountain House with an even more splendid fac ili ty, located where 
the temporary one stood.36 

The Summit House 

During February 1885 , GM R contracted with John E. Clark to erect 
a new, full-serv ice hotel - to be ca lled the Summi t House. Wanting 
to get an earl y start on construction, Clark hoped to skid the 
build ing materials across the ice on Eagle Lake, to the foot of the 
ra il way, where work tra ins would carry them to the top. But once he 
learned it wo uld be April before the locomotives could run , he 
dec ided to employ several teams of horses to cart equ ipment and 
supplies up the broken-down carri age road. Begun in early March, 
the strenuous undertaking took nearly three weeks. 

Us ing plans drawn by W. E. Mansur of Bangor, Clark had crews at 
wo rk on the Summit House in early April. The genera l des ign ca ll ed 
fo r an enlargement of the temporary quarters erected the prev ious 
summer, which the GMR people thought were too good to be taken 
down. It added a 35 by 40-foo t extension to the north end of the 
ex isting building and made the entire structure three stories high, 
capping it with a slate roof. A veranda surro unded the entire first 
floor, which had been configured to include an offi ce, parl or, dining 
hall , private dining space, kite.hen, and pantry. The second and third 
levels each contained I 0 sleeping roo ms with shared baths. Open 
fireplaces in the dining hall , parlor, and ha ll ways provided warmth 
and added to the charm . A basement area gave space fo r a 30,000-
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gallon cement cistern and a series of storerooms. Clark 's workers 
completed the job in mid-June, comfo11abl y ahead of the planned 
Jul y 1 opening. The entire project cost about $5 ,000.37 

Railway Business Declines 

Succeeding seasons through the 1880s saw the Green Mountain 
Railway Company continue efforts to improve the quality of its 
operati on by further enhancing the level of service. To bolster early 
season business, trains were made avail able on demand throughout 
June, rather than simply the latter part of the month . As the 1885 
season got underway, management announced additional stage 
service connecting Bar Harbor with Eagle Lake. Barges would 
continue making the customary stops at intown hotels and also call 
at private cottages fo r parti es of five or more. The fo llowing year, 
two more stages were added to the line, making a total of fi ve. 
During 1889, the cog tra ins made an additional two trips a day, with 
the earliest and latest runs reserved fo r people staying at the Summit 
House. That season, crews laid numerous replacement crossti es and 
stringers along the roadbed, as added precaution to ensure the safety 
of the train and its passengers. 

The 1886 season proved to be GMR's most successful , when close 
to 8,000 people rode the trains. During early Jul y, the line benefited 
greatl y from an added influx of summer visitors, as Bar Harbor 
played host to a confe rence of the American Institute of Instructi on, 
the oldest educati onal a soc iati on in the Uni ted States. Between 
1,000 and 1,500 fac ulty and admini strators fro m school systems 
across the northeast attended the fo ur-day convention, and most 
took time to ride the ra ilroad.3X 

Despite the company's attempts to further boost business, the 
number of passengers on its trains declined dramaticall y after 1886 . 
During 1887, the fi nal (estimated) tall y fe ll to little more than 
2,500. In 1888, a poor summer, weather-wise, the number dropped 
to just 99039 and was only marginally better- a total of 1,305 - the fo llowing 
season.4o Several writers have suggested that lean years in the local 
touri st business, marked by changing atti tudes and habits among the 
summer visitors, were largely the reason fo r the downturn . While 
these may have contributed to the overa ll consequence, the major 
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factor was the establishment of a new means of travel to the mountaintop 
- a much improved roadway up Green Mountain 's north ridge. The 
endeavor was the result of a j oin t effort by loca l businesspeople 
calling themselves the Green Mounta in Carriage Road Company. 

Th e Green Mountain Carriage Road Company 

Sho1tly before the Green M ounta in Railway 's grand opening in 
1883, company offi c ials had mildl y hinted they would close the 
ex isting ca1Tiage road by putting up a ga te w here it crossed their 
track, just be low the 1,3 00-foo t leve l. The warning was never 
carried out, as much as anything because th e old di rt-and-stone 
route was in such poor shape. Erosion had a ll but eradi cated some 
sections, making it nearly imposs ibl e fo r horses and buckboards to 
navi ga te without maj or di ffi culty. At th e more chall eng ing stretches, 
riders had to get out and wa lk, so dri vers co uld coax tea ms and 
empty ri gs a long. As ide from the road 's fa iling conditi on, GMR 
management was optimisti c that once its trains began running, 
people would fl ock to them almost exc lusive ly. 

For fi ve seasons, GMR prov ided th e onl y es tabli shed tra nsportati on 
to the summit of Green Mounta in . Then, in late 1887, the prospect 
of competiti on suddenl y emerged. That December, Bar Harbor 
merchants Elihu and Ralph Hamor, w ith dry goods dea ler John J. 
Carr, organi zed the Green Mounta in Carri age Road Co mpany 
(C RC) and ra ised $25,000 to " purchase, lease, and acquire land 
from the base of Green M ountain to the summit, on which to locate, 
construct, and operate a to ll road." 

The plan ca ll ed fo r work on the proposed project to begin the 
foll owing spring, a lthough the start-up was postponed after the task 
of acquiring a ri ght-of-way up the mountain became more time 
consumin g than the organi zers had anti cipated. Once it did beg in , in 
early July, Joseph G. Ke ll y of Bar Harbor oversaw the constructi on. 
Under hi s direc ti on, workers made non-stop progress and compl eted 
the job in only three weeks. The lower porti on of the route lay 
sli ghtly to the east of th e o lder road, w here it more qui ckly gained 
the crown of the mounta in 's north ridge and provided superi o r 
vi ews. The upper secti on essenti a ll y fo llowed the course of the 
previ ous approach. The entire way, fro m the Eagle Lake Road to th e 
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summit, measured sli ghtly more than 2.5 miles and was wide 
enough fo r two carriages to eas ily meet and pass one another. 

Completed at a cost of $8,000, the Green Mountain Carri age Road 
opened July 26, 1888. Edwin A. Atlee of Philadelphia, Pres ident of 
the Lehi gh Vall ey Rail road , was the first to make the scenic dri ve to 
the top.41 The road stayed open unti I October I and attracted more 
than 3,000 people. 

Open Hostility 

Encouraged by the immedi ate success of the new venture, Carr and 
the Hamors hired crews to repair and grade the CRC roadbed the 
fo ll owing spring, then reopened it June 17, nearly three weeks 
befo re the Green Mountain Railway ran its first scheduled train. 
That day-July 6, 1889-carri age road trave lers encountered an 
unexpected surpri se shortly before they reached the mountaintop. 
GMR employees had placed a gate across the road where the 
rail road track crossed it. Cla iming the ri ght of possess ion to the land 
at and aro und the summit, GMR had employed an attendant to 
charge passers-by a doll ar per person, plus a doll ar per vehicle, to 
proceed. The ploy was short-li ved; the next morning angry CRC 
peo ple tore down the barri er. 

Tensions between GMR and CRC persisted, then resurfaced later in 
the month . The night of Jul y 23, six anonymous " rail road people" 
rode the cog train to the top of the mounta in , walked part way down 
the carriage road, dug a hole, planted dynamite, and blew up a 
porti on of the roadway. CRC supporters immediately talked 
retali ati on, threatening a lawsuit and the poss ibility someone might 
dynamite the GMR track .42 Cooler heads eventually prevail ed, and 
the momentary " road war" ended without furth er di sruption or 
damage to either company 's ho ldings. 

The carriage road's revival spawned a new wave of entrepreneur, 
each eager to provide would-be mountain vi sitors the opportunity 
fo r easier, faster ways to visit Green Mountain 's summit. The day 
the improved carriage road opened, Andrew Staffo rd began 
operating excursions to the top via a "very sty lish" buckboard, built 
especially fo r the demanding ride by Ell sworth carriage maker 
Henry E. Davi s. Leaving at 9:3 0 a. m. and 2: 30 p.m. from hi s stable 
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on Spring Street in Bar Harbor, Stafford and hi s three-horse hitch 
made the circuit of intown hotels to pick up passengers. He 
promi sed that those who made the morning trip would be back in 
time fo r lunch, while ones who went in the afternoon would not 
miss their "early tea" . A.S. Getchell , the proprietor of the Green 
Mountain Livery, offered on-demand service, adverti sing a variety 
of carriages and drivers "at short notice". 

Out of Business 

Foll owing GMR's woeful 1888 and 1889 seasons, management tried 
desperately to come up with ways to rev ive interest in the rail road. 
In early May 1890, the company announced it had reduced the 
ro und-trip train fare from $2. 50 to $ 1.00. The idea did bring 
substantially more business . Nearly every day during August, extra 
buckboards had to be used to carry passengers to and from Eagle 
Lake. But the operating season was sho1t, lasting only from 
mid-July to mid-September, and revenue from the more than 2,300 
cheaper fa res was not nearly enough to offset expenses. The line lost 
$ 1,400 that season, and the company's a lready substantial defi cit, 
dating back to 1887, grew to $ 14,049.57.43 See ing no way 
to reverse the growing fin ancial pli ght, GMR directors shut down 
the ra il road. 

The end came quietl y and received little attenti on in the loca l 
papers. A brief mention in the Bar Harbor Record fo r July 30, 1891 , 
pointed out what most people already knew: "Formerl y access to the 
mountain could be obtained by means of the cog rail road, but it was 
not patronized sufficiently to warrant its continuance, and thi s year 
it has been abandoned." 

On January 17, 1893, the Hancock County sheriff's department 
conducted a sa le of GM R's property at the law offi ce of Deasy and 
Higg ins in Bar Harbor. W. A. Milliken purchased the stern-wheeler 
Wauwinet. Daniel and Perry Brewer, together with Orient Carpenter, 
bought the summit hotel. The furniture and other fi xtures went to J. 
McCarthy, form erl y an engineer on the railway.44 Bar Harbor arti st 
J.C. Manchester obtained one of the passenger cars and converted it 
into a Main Street studio fo r hi s paintings . Li veryman William H. 
Puffer bought the oth er, and it became a stall on South Street, where 
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he kept horses. No one expressed an interest in either of the two 
locomoti ves, and they were left undisturbed at the base of the 
mountain . 

The GMR l ocomotives live On 

A few months after the sa le of GMR's assets, the defunct 
company's two locomoti ves experi enced an unexpected rebirth . On 
May 23, 1893, a devastating fire swept th rough many of the buildings 
at the Mount Washington Rail way's base stati on at Marshfield . Two 
of the railroad's seven locomoti ves were o badl y damaged they had 
to be scrapped. Two others were sa lvageable, but required extensive, 
time-consuming rebuilding. A pair of passengers cars, a baggage car, 
and a freight ca r were also destroyed.45 The loss placed the 
rail way's owners-since 1889, the Concord & Montrea l Railroad 
Company (C&M)- in an uncomfortable predi cament. With the 
summer season litt le more than a month away, the firm needed 
replacement ro lling tock in a hurry if it were go ing to operate on a 
full schedul e. 

Word soon reached C&M that the two GMR locomoti ves were 
langui shing at the foo t of Green Mountain . Within ten days, the 
company had purchased the idle " iron horses" and arra nged to have 
them parti all y di smantled, to fac ilitate their shipment via the Maine 
Centra l Railroad fro m neighboring Mount Desert Ferry to Mount 
Washington. 

Although ex ten ively rebuilt over the years, to the extent that few, if 
any, original parts remain , the two fo rmer Green Mountain Rail way 
locomoti ves are still operating on Mount Was hington. No. I (Mount 
Desert) was renumbered "4" and now goes under the name Chocorua. 
GMR No. 2 was fi rst designated "5," renumbered "3" in 1934, and 
in 1995-96 dubbed Agiocochook.46 

Th e Aftermath 

The Summi t House continued to operate fo r a few more years after 
the ra il road ceased, but never on the scale or with the elegance it 
had before. By the mid- l 890s, the entire operati on had become 
dubious. Persistent rumors of illicit go ings-on fin all y pro mpted 
authorities to in vesti gate. On August 2 1, 1895 , a Hancock County 

Green Mo untain Railway 7 1 



sheriff and three Bar Harbor poli ce officers raided the property, 
seized a large amount of ill ega l liquor (in violation of Maine's 
prohibition law of 1846), arrested the proprietor, and closed the 
place down. It never reopened. 

During the summer of 1896, much of the Summit House 's once­
imposing structure was taken down . The best timbers and boards 
were saved, leav ing only a ri ckety shell whi ch needed to be burned 
to be properly di sposed of. But severa l people li ving in nea rby Otter 
Creek objected to hav ing the surviving framework set afire. They 
were afraid the surrounding woods might catch and a runaway blaze 
wou ld threaten their homes and community. The protest prompted 
the Bar Harbor Fire Department to assure those concerned that 
conditions would be suitable before they allowed anything on the 
mountain to be burned. That time arrived the foggy, showery 
evening of September 19, when winds were essenti all y ca lm and the 
nearby woods wet. The Summ it House's scant remains were ignited 
and quickl y went up in smoke .~ 7 

By the end of 1896, most remaining traces of the GM R track had 
likewise been removed. That December, the rai ls and asso rted 
urplu iron were hauled to Nicker on & Spratt's Wharf in Bar 

Harbor, loaded aboard the schooner Cambridge, and taken to the 
Portland Rolling Mill s, in South Portl and, where they were 
recyc led. The ti es, stringers, and other wooden foundat ion pieces 
were left scattered along the roadway to rot.48 

Over the next severa l years, mi xed vegetation encroached on the 
former rai l bed, graduall y ob li terating its presence. In l 910, a 
nostalgic feature about the railway appeared in the Ellsworth 
American, in which the writer commented how the route was still 
evident, but already "rather faint at times." At one point, trailmakers 
marked the hi storic way with small , stone cairns, and occasional 
ones are still evident along the stretch above the park loop road, 
north of Bubble Pond. Today the entire route is heavily overgrown, 
except where it crosses open ledges . In some places, bushwhacking 
is the on ly way anyone attempting to trace the old line can fo llow 
the course. The best clues for identifying the exact location and 
direction are the surviving iron rods which held the foundation logs 
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in place. Most were never pulled fro m the ground, nor extracted 
fro m the ledges, and li tera ll y hundreds remain embedded w here 
hardy crews first pl aced them. 

T he pass ing of the Green Mounta in Railway brought an end to a 
unique and co lorful attempt to capita lize on M a ine 's budding resort 
business. A lthough doomed by a lack of susta inable in terest, the 
curious attrac ti on enabled thousands to marve l at the gra ndeurs of 
M ount Desert Island in a fas hi on most could have otherw ise onl y 
imag ined and brought the regio n a substanti a l measure of public 
awareness that has he lped ensure its ongo ing growth as a 
preeminent trave l destin ation. 

Peter Dow Bachelde1~ .formerly the Director of" Information Services 
at the Ma ine Publicity Bureau, li ves in Ellsworth, Maine. He is 
currently working on a book-leng th history of the Green Mountain 
Railway. Any o11e having inf"ormation or images regarding any phase 
of the railroad 's (or Green Mounta in 's) history is encouraged to 
contact him at: P O. Box 367, Ell worth, Ma ine 04605, or via e-mail 
at: pdb@acadi a.net 
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